FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/5/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/28/2022 2:38 PM

101600-0

No. 84015-1

Supreme Court No. 100331-5
King County Superior Court No 21-2-03266-1 SEA

**COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, DIVISION I**

THE CIVIL SURVIVAL PROJECT, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, ET AL.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Michael C. Subit, WSBA #29189
FRANK FREED SUBIT THOMAS LLP
705 Second Avenue, Suite 1200
Seattle, Washington 98104
Telephone: (206) 682-6711

Adam T. Klein*
Christopher M. McNerney*
OUTTEN & GOLDEN LLP
685 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10017

IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

This petition is brought by the Civil Survival Project (“CSP”), individually and on behalf of its members and clients, and Irene Slagle, Christina Zawaideh, Julia Reardon, Adam Kravitz, Laura Yarbrough, and Deighton Boyce, individually and on behalf of the proposed class (“Petitioners”).

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals’ (“CoA”) November 28, 2022, opinion affirming the superior court order granting dismissal under Civil Rule 12(b)(6). Appendix to Petitioners’ Petition for Discretionary Review (“App.”), Ex. A (CoA opinion, hereinafter “Decision”).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petitioners present the following issues for review:

1. Does the Decision conflict with *State v. Jennings*, 199 Wn.2d 53 (2022), and *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175 (1986)?
2. Does the Decision raise substantial issues concerning public interest, access to justice, and geographic discrimination?

3. Does the Decision raise due process concerns?
4. Should the Court exercise its inherent supervisory authority to address the public's interest in fair restitution to impacted individuals?
5. Does the Decision otherwise comply with binding precedent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual Background

On February 25, 2021, this Court struck down Washington's former felony drug possession statute, RCW 69.50.4013, as unconstitutional. *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 173 (2021). As a result, all parties in this action agree that thousands of individuals are now eligible for relief, including the refund of millions of dollars in legal financial obligations ("LFOs") imposed and collected pursuant to unconstitutional convictions. Appendix to Appellants' Petition for Direct Review ("Direct Review App.") Ex. 4 (Counties' Second Motion to Dismiss ("Mot.)) at 5-6; Direct Review App. Ex. 2 (Washington State's Statement of No Position ("Statement of No Position")).

Beyond that, there's a plethora of disagreement over the mechanism, means, and scope of LFO refunds. With limited assistance from the State, Washington counties have primarily been left to decide how to handle *Blake* refunds on their own – resulting in inconsistent, disparate refunding from county to county. *See, e.g.*, Statement of No Position at 3-4. Crucially, there is neither an established mechanism to provide notice to people impacted by *Blake*, nor means to achieve meaningful systemic relief.

II. Procedural Background

On March 11, 2021, CSP sued Washington State (“State”) and King and Snohomish counties (“Counties”), seeking to restore LFO payments, cancel pending LFOs, and prevent future LFOs from being imposed as a result of *Blake* and *Blake*-related convictions. Petitioners then added individual plaintiffs and the remaining 37 Counties as Defendants, and asserted additional individual, class, and organizational claims. Direct Review App. Ex. 1 (Second Amended Complaint, or “SAC”). On August 27,

2021, the Counties filed a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6). The State did not join in the Counties' motion, instead filing a "Statement of No Position." On September 24, 2021, the Superior Court dismissed the action in its entirety. After this Court denied direct review, the CoA heard oral argument on July 13, 2022, and issued an opinion affirming the Superior Court in its entirety on November 28, 2022.

ARGUMENT

Blake constituted a watershed moment for criminal justice, but 22-plus months later, many individuals have not received recovery for their unlawful convictions, and relief has become a balkanized affair where individuals' chance to recover (and the extent of that recovery) largely depends on the county in which they reside or were convicted. The CoA endorsed this state of affairs, incorrectly holding that *Williams*, a case about traffic infractions – rather than *Jennings*, a case about the facial invalidity of *Blake* convictions – controls and mandates this unfair outcome. *See Williams v. City of Spokane*, 199 Wn.2d

236, 245 (2022); *State v. Jennings*, 199 Wn.2d at 67. In reaching this holding, the CoA created a significant conflict in precedent and ignored Petitioners’ unrebutted claims of geographic disparities, procedural morass, and justice denied that stem directly from its decision.

This Court has previously “recognized the judiciary’s role in perpetuating racism within the justice system” and “committed to changing that.” *State v. Hawkins*, 200 Wn.2d 477, 501 (2022). But while *Blake* was intended to help rectify such injustice, its application has fallen woefully short, and Washington has failed many of its residents who it previously unlawfully convicted. Unfortunately, it is now clear that there will be no justice for many individuals *Blake* harmed absent this Court’s intervention, especially for Washingtonians of color.

Consistent with the factors articulated in RAP 13.4(b), discretionary review is warranted for at least five separate, significant, reasons.

First, the CoA's Decision overturned decades of Washington precedent holding that a facially unconstitutional conviction is null and void regardless of whether that conviction has been independently vacated. The Decision thus effects a sea change in Washington law and will adversely impact the remedies for unconstitutional convictions in ways yet to be determined.

Second, this is a case of the utmost public interest, as to how *Blake* relief will be effectuated, whether this Court will give judicial imprimatur to intra-state discrimination related to *Blake* relief, and whether this Court will permit narrow prior rulings to cutoff any hope for systemic relief here.

Third, this case raises significant due process concerns over whether a CrR 7.8 process designed for the correction of *individual* error in an *individual* case can function, without constitutional violation, when the total number of impacted individuals is in the hundred-thousands, and many of these

individuals simply will not receive justice under the current one-off process.

Fourth, like its sister court in Massachusetts, this Court has the obligation and moral duty to supervise and correct the systemic and unconstitutional injustice caused by the State’s criminal justice system. *See generally Commonwealth v. Martinez*, 480 Mass. 777, 797 (2018).

Fifth, the CoA’s opinions directly conflict with other binding precedent in the state, creating troubling errors with compounding systemic concern as to Washington’s standards for pleading, organizational standing, class certification, and equitable relief.

I. The CoA Erred by Holding *Williams*, Not *Jennings*, Controls.

In *State v. Jennings*, this Court explained that *Blake* “convictions are constitutionally invalid.” 199 Wn.2d at 67. This ruling was based on decades of well-established precedent holding that, for sentencing purposes, “a prior conviction which

has been previously determined to have been unconstitutionally obtained or which is constitutionally invalid on its face may not be considered.” *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d at 187-88 (collecting cases). *Ammons* also articulated the broader constitutional rule undergirding the analysis, that “[c]onstitutionally invalid on its face means a conviction which without further elaboration evidences infirmities of a constitutional magnitude.” *Id.* at 188; *see also Nelson v. Colorado*, 581 U.S. 128, 136 n.10 (2017) (“an invalid conviction is no conviction at all”) (citation omitted).¹ Thus, where a conviction is constitutionally invalid on its face, the normal requirement that the defendant obtain an independent determination that the conviction is invalid does not apply.

¹ *Ammons* addressed whether the State had to prove the constitutionality of a prior conviction before it could be considered in sentencing. 105 Wn.2d at 186-87. The Court held that the State did not have to do so, noting that there are “established avenues of challenge” for addressing a conviction’s constitutionality. *Id.* at 188. But *Ammons* made clear an inmate need not resort to a separate avenue of challenge with respect to a conviction that is constitutionally invalid on its face. *Id.* at 188-89. *Jennings* holds that *Blake* convictions fall into that special category.

The Decision directly conflicts with this well-established line of cases because it relied instead on *Williams* to hold that an individual *must* seek to vacate a void *Blake* conviction through CrR 7.8 before obtaining a refund of LFOs despite the statute’s facial (and declared) unconstitutionality. Decision at 15. This created a conflict because *Blake* convictions clearly fall within the category of convictions that are constitutionally infirm without further elaboration, given that this Court held that Washington’s strict liability statute “exceed[ed] the legislature’s police power” and thus was entirely unconstitutional as drafted. 197 Wn.2d at 173.

Rather than following this principle, the CoA viewed itself as bound to apply CrR 7.8 as the exclusive remedy by an overly technical and broad reading of *Williams* and *Doe* (the CoA decision that *Williams* was based on). *See* Decision at 12-15. But *Williams/Doe* analyzed discrete judgments imposed by courts of limited jurisdiction in narrow circumstances. *See Williams*, 199 Wn.2d at 241-42 (costs imposed by traffic

infractions); *Doe v. Fife Mun. Court*, 74 Wn. App. 444, 446 (1994) (deferred prosecution costs for alcohol-related offenses). *Blake* involves a far-reaching criminal statute – under which thousands upon thousands of people were convicted over the course of decades – that was ruled facially unconstitutional. *Doe* and *Williams* did not involve convictions constitutionally invalid on their face.

The CoA sought to avoid the legal conflict between its reliance on *Williams/Doe* by reading *Jennings* very narrowly, as standing only for the proposition that *Blake* convictions cannot be used in sentencing, and nothing more. Decision at 14-15. The principle set forth in *Ammons* – that different rules govern the collateral consequences of facially unconstitutional convictions – is broader than sentencing.² The CoA’s reasoning does not provide a limiting principle for why CrR 7.8 vacation is not

² If the Court intends to limit *Ammons/Jennings* to the sentencing context, it should make that decision only after full briefing, further underscoring the need for discretionary review in this case.

required in resentencing, but is required for LFO refunds. Instead, the CoA mandated a person-by-person vacation procedure for LFO refunds that, in practical effect, is not meaningfully different than the position articulated by the *Blake* dissent, which advocated for an as-applied rule focused on Blake herself and not the broader statute. *See Blake*, 197 Wn.2d at 195-96, 211-12 (Stephens, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). But a person-by-person approach was rejected by the *Blake* majority. *See id.* at 192 n.14.

Ultimately, with its formalistic application of CrR 7.8, the CoA elevated a rule of criminal procedure over constitutional rulings by this Court, and treated *Blake*'s constitutional deprivations like a traffic violation. This was an error with significant implications for the entire Washington legal system. *See Freedom Found. v. Gregoire*, 178 Wn.2d 686, 695 (2013) (“the constitution supersedes contrary statutory laws”); *see also In re Det. of Young*, 163 Wn.2d 684, 693 (2008) (holding proceedings at issue were “not governed by the civil rules where

the rules conflict with [applicable] statutory provisions”).³

Accordingly, discretionary review is needed to clarify the status of *Blake* convictions (and, indeed, the remedies for any constitutionally inform conviction) within the justice system.

II. *Blake* Presents Issues of Substantial Public Interest Only Resolvable by this Court.

This petition also presents several issues of utmost public interest that can only be resolved by this Court. *First*, the Decision will result in severe county-by-county disparities for the amount and scope of LFO refunds. *Second*, Washingtonians continue to be harmed by CrR 7.8’s exclusivity, which makes the return of their property harder for some and impossible for others – an issue only this Court can and should correct. *Third*, at a

³ The CoA also supported its narrow reading of *Jennings* by pointing to the text of CrR 7.8, which was amended after *Blake* to provide that one ground for vacation is where a person is “serving a sentence for a conviction under a statute determined to be void, invalid, or unconstitutional.” Decision at 15. But CrR 7.8 does not trump a constitutional ruling by the Washington Supreme Court. Moreover, those amendments were in place when this Court decided *Jennings*, and yet this Court did not require *Jennings* – or any other *Blake* defendant – to vacate his conviction before granting relief from sentencing enhancements.

minimum, this Court should allow Petitioners' case to proceed on behalf of individuals whose *Blake* convictions were already formally vacated, where there is no need for a CrR 7.8 hearing.

In its Decision, the CoA gave the judicial imprimatur to an inequitable, arbitrary system that stands to perpetuate further injustice for generations to come. For *Blake* to be more than just words on paper, it requires continued, concerted effort from this Court, the State, and civil society. Extensive, unrebutted allegations show that the State's efforts so far have been woefully insufficient and inconsistent, and individuals unfairly convicted, fined, and incarcerated by this State are continuing to be ignored.

A. The Decision Creates Different Levels of Access to Justice Across Washington State.

The CoA's decision requiring individuals with *Blake* convictions to file for vacation under CrR 7.8 to receive LFO relief has and will result in Washingtonians experiencing drastically different levels of access to justice based on the

happenstance of the county in which they live, creating an issue of significant public interest across Washington.

There can be no serious dispute on this point. The State itself has conceded that “some county prosecutors are proactively reaching out to individuals known to be affected by *Blake*,” while others have failed to “refund[] LFOs even when a conviction is vacated, citing a lack of resources.” Statement of No Position at 3-4. CrR 7.8’s case-by-case approach “raises logistical and access-to-justice concerns – particularly for individuals who are subject to different practices in different counties, and who may not be aware of their legal rights or have available means to vindicate them.” *Id.* at 8; *see Lane v. City of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 875, 888 (2008) (“‘Justice delayed is justice denied’ is literally true for money.”). These concerns were echoed by the amici on appeal. *See* Direct Review App., Amicus Memorandum from ACLU et al. (“ACLU Mem.”) 2-5, 12; Direct Review App., Amicus Memorandum from Washington Defender Association (“WDA Mem.”) 1-5, 7-9.

Review by this Court is the only way to ensure uniformity of access to justice in Washington for the victims of *Blake*.

B. Interpreting CrR 7.8 as Exclusive Is Inequitable.

Applying CrR 7.8 as the *exclusive* remedy for the harms caused by *Blake* convictions is inequitable, inefficient, and inconsistent with the Rule’s intent, creating a further issue of substantial public concern. And yet, because of the CoA’s Decision, only this Court is positioned to address and rectify the harm.

As Petitioners have alleged in well-pleaded allegations, there are more than 100,000 impacted individuals throughout Washington. SAC ¶¶ 1.23-24, 4.2; *see also* Decision at 3 (noting scale of individuals impacted by *Blake*). Because of this, the one-off vacation process required by the CoA could take 4,000 years. SAC ¶ 1.23. If CrR 7.8 is the exclusive means to seek LFO refunds, it will lead to the denial of justice for many.

Although the CoA acknowledged that it “may or may not be” true that *Blake*’s “demands on the judicial system create

different concerns of judicial efficiency” than those raised in *Williams/Doe*, it held that concern “cannot rebut *Williams*’s textual reading” of CrR 7.8 that its use of “the court” conferred exclusivity. Decision at 15. However, the key tenet undergirding *Doe/Williams*’s reasoning was “the strong policy reason” of judicial efficiency in litigating and voiding convictions in the same court, individually. *Doe*, 74 Wn. App. at 454; see also *Williams*, 199 Wn.2d at 245 (noting that the Court saw no “barrier to a party obtaining effective relief” even without a class action) (quotation omitted). The *Doe* court specifically emphasized that it did not anticipate that the “district and municipal courts [would] be overwhelmed with litigants,” a concern that the CoA seemingly ignored. 74 Wn. App. at 455. *Blake*, which impacts thousands of persons, presents the dire situation *Doe/Williams* sought to avoid. One-by-one adjudication will completely “overwhelm[]” the judicial system. *Doe*, 74 Wn. App. at 454.

In addition, the CoA erred in dismissing clear indicators in both the text and legislative history of CrR 7.8 that the rule is not intended as exclusive.⁴ *First*, CrR 7.8’s plain language does not include the language Washington typically uses when identifying an area of exclusive jurisdiction over particular claims. *See, e.g.*, RCW 3.50.020 (“The municipal court shall have *exclusive original jurisdiction* over traffic infractions arising under city ordinances . . .”) (emphasis added).

Second, CrR 7.8’s drafting history establishes “that the drafters [purposefully] left out” proposed language that would have made the Rule an exclusive remedy. *See* Editors’ Notes to CrR 7.8; *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 193 (2013) (if a statute or rule is ambiguous, a court “may then look to legislative history for assistance in discerning legislative intent”). In fact, in March 1985, a member of the drafting committee proposed amending CrR 7.8(c) to explicitly provide that the Rule is the exclusive

⁴ Even the CoA noted CrR 7.8’s “ambiguity.” Decision at 14.

mechanism for reviewing a superior court's judgment in a criminal case, and the Committee rejected the proposal. Editors' Notes to CrR 7.8. One of the motivating reasons for the Committee's rejection was a caution that "it seemed inappropriate and unnecessary to limit a superior court's power without fully understanding the impact of the limitation." *Id.*

This concern, which was cast aside by the CoA, rings especially true here. As discussed *supra*, *Blake* involves *thousands* of convictions made across the entire state, some of which are decades old. The impact of limiting superior courts' power over LFO refunds in this case is far-reaching and of a constitutional magnitude. This Court must intervene to correct the CoA's error in interpreting the rule.

C. The Decision Ignores Individuals With Already Vacated Convictions.

At a minimum, even if the Court were to find that CrR 7.8 is exclusive, the CoA erred by ignoring that individuals whose convictions are already vacated need not file CrR 7.8 motions to

receive LFO refunds. The added and entirely unnecessary burdens imposed by the CoA's ruling on these individuals create an additional, significant issue of public concern.

Respondents admit that prosecutors in certain counties have vacated *Blake* convictions for individuals but have not refunded LFOs. *See* Direct Review App. Reply Br. at 5-6 (citations omitted). There is no basis for requiring these individuals to file CrR 7.8 motions, as their convictions are already vacated, and their LFOs are tied directly to the now-vacated convictions. There is nothing further for them to do. Their property (*i.e.*, their money) must be promptly refunded, and Respondents continued withholding of that property violates due process. *See infra*, Argument § III.⁵ “‘Justice delayed is justice denied’ is literally true for money.” *Lane*, 164 Wn.2d at 888 (citation omitted).

⁵ Thus, even if this Court agrees with the CoA, the lawsuit must move forward on behalf of CSP's members whose sentences are already vacated, and Petitioners also should be given the opportunity to amend their Complaint to add allegations for others.

III. Applying CrR 7.8 to *Blake* Raises Significant Due Process Questions.

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