#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/27/2023 3:01 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### No. 101600-0

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### CIVIL SURVIVAL PROJECT, et al.,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, KING COUNTY, and SNOHOMISH COUNTY,

Defendants/Respondents.

#### KING COUNTY'S AND SNOHOMISH COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Timothy G. Leyh, Randall T. Thomsen Erica R. Iverson HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP 999 Third Ave. Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1700

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

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

A petition for review should be granted only where one of the considerations listed in RAP 13.4(b) applies. None applies here: the Decision is not in conflict with this Court's precedent or with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; the Decision does not raise any state or federal constitutional issue; and the petition does not involve a question of substantial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Karl v. City of Bremerton*, No. 50228-3-II, 2019 WL 720834 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 20, 2019); *Boone v. City of Seattle*, No. 76611-2-I, 2018 WL 3344743 (Wash. Ct. App. July 9, 2018).

public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). This Court should deny review.

#### A. The Decision does not Conflict with this Court's Precedent or with any Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioners have not identified a "conflict" between the Decision and a decision of this Court, nor have Petitioners identified a "conflict" between the Decision and any "published decision" of the Court of Appeals, as required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

# 1. The Decision does not conflict with *Jennings* or *Ammons*.

Petitioners attempt to manufacture a conflict between this Court's *Williams* decision and *State v. Jennings*, a case that recites the uncontroverted principle that *Blake* "convictions are constitutionally invalid." *State v. Jennings*, 199 Wn.2d 53, 67, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022); Pet. at 7-12. There is no conflict. First, *Jennings* merely affirms that *Blake* convictions "cannot be considered in [a defendant's] offender score," a point that no party in the *Jennings* case disputed. 199 Wn.2d at 67. The reason is straightforward: simple possession convictions are based on a constitutionally void statute, so they cannot be used to restrict an individual's liberty. *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 187-88, 713 P.2d 719 (1986). The parties in this case agree on this point, *see* B244 at B262–B263, and the Decision does not change the equation.

Ammons and Jennings thus act as a shield to protect individuals from the constitutional harm that would result from being restricted by an invalid conviction. This case, however, is not about the "collateral consequences of facially unconstitutional convictions," Pet. at 10; it is about the mechanism by which Petitioners may obtain the vacations and refunds to which they are entitled. That mechanism is CrR 7.8. Jennings and Ammons say nothing about the process for removing a constitutionally invalid conviction from an individual's record and are therefore irrelevant to Petitioners' collateral class action attack on their convictions. Petitioners' attempt to use Ammons and Jennings to sidestep the CrR 7.8

process should be rejected.

Petitioners next argue that because Jennings did not need to bring a CrR 7.8 motion for the resentencing court to disregard his invalid conviction, CrR 7.8 must not be an exclusive remedy. Pet. at 9-10. Petitioners' argument extends Jennings and Ammons too far. Neither case involved an attempt to collaterally attack a criminal judgment and sentence. *Jennings* was a direct appeal seeking reversal of a conviction imposed prior to *Blake* and, later, resentencing in light of *Blake*—all within the context of the individual criminal case. *Ammons* similarly involved consolidated appeals from defendants challenging their sentences within the procedural context of their criminal cases, not an attempted class action collateral attack on their convictions.

Moreover, *Ammons* in fact *supports* the Counties' position that a collateral class action attack is an inappropriate vehicle for Petitioners to seek vacations and LFO refunds. *Ammons* recognized that requiring a sentencing court to review "all prior convictions" for constitutional validity before imposing a sentence would "unduly and unjustifiably overburden the sentencing court." 105 Wn.2d at 727. Similarly, "individualized vacations in separate courts *serve* the purposes of efficiency." Decision at 15 (citing *Williams*, 199 Wn.2d at 244); *see also Williams*, 199 Wn.2d at 244 ("It is equally true here as it was in *Doe* 'that judicial resources are employed more efficiently if the party who asserts a judgment or order as being void is first required to address its concerns to the court that issued the judgment or order."").

In short, *Williams* controls. Petitioners may not escape the effects of their simple possession convictions and sentences through a class action; they must proceed through the CrR 7.8 process. This result does not conflict with *Jennings* or *Ammons*, which merely affirm that sentencing courts should not consider invalid convictions during sentencing proceedings.

# 2. The Decision does not conflict with any published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Decision harmonizes with the only other published Court of Appeals decision  $(Doe)^3$  interpreting a procedural rule similar to CrR 7.8. The Court of Appeals agreed with the Doe court that CrR 7.8 is an exclusive remedy for seeking vacation and refunds associated with the vacated conviction. Decision at 11, 13 ("We conclude that there is not a sufficient basis to deviate from the reasoning of Doe, Boone, Karl, and Williams."). The Court of Appeals expressly declined to distinguish *Doe* despite Petitioners' plea that "facially unconstitutional convictions are different" from the traffic fines imposed in the Doe case. Id. at 14. The Decision does not conflict with *Doe* or any other published decision of the Court of Appeals.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Nor is the Decision in conflict with *Boone* or *Karl*, the two unpublished Court of Appeals decisions that similarly rejected class action collateral attacks on prior judgments and sentences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Nor do Petitioners raise any other "conflict" necessitating discretionary review by this Court. Petitioners attempt to

# **B.** The Petition Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the Court may accept

discretionary review of a petition involving "an issue of

substantial public interest that should be determined by the

Supreme Court." Id. Petitioners identify no such issue.

# 1. Petitioners' desire to collaterally attack their convictions and sentences is not an issue of substantial public interest.

Petitioners' request to revive their putative class action

ignores the monetary, policy, and rulemaking efforts the

government already has implemented to address Blake. To the

extent Petitioners disagree with the government's policy

assign multiple errors of law to this Court—including that the Decision failed to apply the proper pleading standard, improperly addressed CSP's organizational standing, opined prematurely on the requirements of CR 23, and improperly dismissed Petitioners' equitable claims. Petitioners do not identify any "conflicts" between these issues as discussed in the Decision and a precedent of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Petitioners' complaint is that the Court of Appeals wrongly analyzed these issues, which is not a basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

decision to address *Blake* through funding and rulemaking, that disagreement is not a basis for discretionary review.

Petitioners correctly identify the Legislature's passage of a fatally flawed criminal statute. But they ignore the Legislature's passage of a systemic solution to the problem it created. Petitioners cannot explain how funding and programming administered through agencies like AOC, DOC, OPD, and others will create any "disparities" in administering *Blake* relief. Pet. at 12-13. Instead, Petitioners continue to press an outdated reality, alleging that vacating the *Blake* convictions of the "more than 100,000 impacted individuals . . . could take 4,000 years." Pet. at 15.

Petitioners' fears are unfounded. In just two years, over 43,000 convictions have been vacated statewide. Jan. 25, 2023 Hr'g on HB 1492 (remarks by Rep. Tara Simmons) at 1:20:45-1:21:20, *available at* https://tvw.org/video/house-civil-rightsjudiciary-2023011515/?eventID=2023011515.<sup>5</sup> The Court should not accept Petitioners' now-falsified prospective worries as truth for purposes of deciding whether to accept review. *C.f.*, *Dioxin/Organochlorine Ctr.*, 119 Wn.2d at 769-70 & n.42, 837; *c.f. also Snohomish County v. State*, 69 Wn. App. 655, 661, 850 P.2d 546 (Wash. Ct. App. 1993) (accepting review of legal issues in moot case but rejecting review of fact issues that "relate only to this particular case").

Nor can Petitioners manufacture an issue of substantial public interest merely because they seek to avoid CrR 7.8 as a class. A putative class action will not avoid disparate "access to justice" any better than the existing CrR 7.8 process. Pet. at 13-15. To the contrary, the Decision closely scrutinizes the inefficiencies and process concerns inherent in Petitioners'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In her remarks, Representative Simmons estimated approximately 262,000 total *Blake* convictions requiring vacation. With roughly 16% of those convictions (43,000) now vacated, the State's progress clearly is proceeding far more rapidly than Petitioners' claim.

proposed class action approach. Decision at 18-20. A class action is rife with potentially disparate impacts, including with respect to class notice, inadvertent waiver for opt-in class members, offset of counsel fees from any class settlement, and delays associated with class fund payouts. Plaintiffs' proposed mechanism is inefficient and a poor substitute for the existing efforts underway.<sup>6</sup>

Petitioners continue—wrongly—to invoke the Massachusetts high court, which was impelled to address the widespread impact of deliberate misconduct by DNA sample analysts. Pet. at 26-27. Despite implicating 21,000 judgments, *Commonwealth v. Martinez*, 109 N.E.3d 459, 479 (Mass. 2018),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Nor is the possibility of "county-by-county disparities" alone sufficient to warrant this Court's review of the Court of Appeals' decision. Different counties may treat criminal procedures differently. Even in the death penalty context, one county's agreement not to seek a particular punishment was not binding on another county. *See State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 738-39, 168 P.3d 359 (2007), *abrogated by State v. Gregory*, 192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018) (*Yates* was abrogated insofar as *Gregory* held the death penalty unconstitutional).

the Massachusetts court held that motion practice within each criminal cause number "satisfies the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment," *id.* at 477, and would suffice to address the impact of the misconduct.

Petitioners nonetheless continue to mischaracterize *Martinez* to urge this Court to exercise its "superintendence authority"—an authority that does not exist in Washington and, in any case, would not assist Petitioners. Petitioners still ignore that this Court exercises its supervisory authority through the legislative process of rulemaking, not appellate review. There is no "universal decision" for this Court to make because it cannot (and need not) direct the courts and coordinate branches to do anything outside the rulemaking context. To the extent Petitioners require urgent relief from their convictions and sentences, they can move pursuant to CrR 7.8. In any event, the government already is carrying out a coordinated, systemic approach to *Blake* compliance. Pet. at 25. This Court's intervention is unnecessary.

### 2. Petitioners' erroneous interpretation of CrR 7.8 does not create an issue of substantial public interest.

Petitioners' disagreement with the Decision's interpretation of CrR 7.8 does not convert this issue into one of substantial public interest. The Decision's adherence to this Court's precedent in *Williams* and its alignment with *Doe* does not alter the status quo or create any inequities. To the contrary, the Decision carefully considered the inefficiencies of proceeding via a class action and concluded that Petitioners' suit could "cause further constitutional harm than the individualized approach of CrR 7.8." Decision at 19. Petitioners should not be permitted to transform a disagreement on the merits into an issue of substantial public interest.

### C. Petitioners Raise No Constitutional Issue Requiring this Court's Review.

Petitioners urge this Court to review the Decision because they claim that the "mandated application of CrR 7.8 to *Blake* violates due process." Pet. at 20. First, Petitioners lack standing to mount a facial or as-applied challenge to CrR 7.8 because none of them sought to utilize CrR 7.8 prior to filing the complaint. See Utter v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington, 182 Wn.2d 398, 430, 341 P.3d 953 (2015) ("constitutional issue is . . . not ripe for review" until the litigant has been subject to the procedure); Carlisle v. Columbia Irr. Dist., 168 Wn.2d 555, 567-68, 229 P.3d 761 (2010) ("due process does not apply if an actual deprivation is contingent on a subsequent action"); Kadoranian by Peach v. Bellingham Police Dep't, 119 Wn.2d 178, 191, 829 P.2d 1061 (1992) (citation omitted) ("[a] litigant does not have standing to challenge a statute on constitutional grounds unless the litigant is harmed by the particular feature of the statute which is claimed to be unconstitutional," meaning "actual damage or injury" rather than "general dissatisfaction").<sup>7</sup> But even if Petitioners had standing, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Since filing the complaint, at least two named plaintiffs (Irene Slagle and Deighton Boyce) have also had their simple possession convictions vacated and one (Slagle) has had \$2628.11 refunded. These post-filing vacations and refunds raise questions about the continued viability of Petitioners' claims. *Orwick v. City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 252-53, 692

Decision does not implicate due process.

Petitioners' continued reliance on Nelson v. Colorado, 581 U.S. 128 (2017), does not transform their flawed constitutional argument into a serious constitutional question. Pet. at 20-24. As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, CrR 7.8 is nothing like the constitutionally deficient procedure underlying *Nelson*. Decision at 16-17. The Colorado legislation at issue in Nelson required defendants to "institute a discrete civil proceeding" and "prove [their] innocence by clear and convincing evidence to obtain the refund of costs, fees, and restitution" to which they were entitled. 581 U.S. at 134 (emphasis added). CrR 7.8 movants seeking vacations and refunds for *Blake* convictions "do not place such a burden on defendants . . . and could not easily be more minimal."

P.2d 793 ("A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief."). For the reasons discussed in Section III.B, there is no "matter[] of continuing and substantial public interest" that would justify this Court's review of Petitioners' claims, assuming they all have secured their originally requested relief (vacations and refunds). *Id.* at 253.

Decision at 17. Simply put, a mere inconvenience is not an unconstitutional burden; *Nelson* is not to the contrary.

To the extent Petitioners claim this Court must determine whether CrR 7.8's burden of proof is unconstitutionally high, Petitioners miss the mark yet again. Crucially, Petitioners have not articulated what burden of proof currently rests with CrR 7.8 movants seeking *Blake* vacations and refunds. That is because there is none. The only "burden" is an administrative burden, not a proof burden: to obtain relief, an individual simply must come forward and identify herself as seeking that relief. She need not prove her innocence by *any* standard. CrR 7.8(b)(4) (vacation permitted where judgment is void); *State v*. LaBounty, 17 Wn. App. 2d 576, 581, 487 P.3d 221 (2021) ("A conviction based on an unconstitutional statute must be vacated."); State v. A.L.R.H., 20 Wn. App. 384, 386, 500 P.3d 188, 189 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021) (same); State v. Gouley, 19 Wn. App. 2d 185, 205, 494 P.3d 458 (2021), review denied, 198 Wash. 2d 1041, 502 P.3d 854 (2022) (same).

Petitioners' argument is further undermined by the fact that many prosecutors are filing unopposed CrR 7.8 motions on behalf of individuals with simple possession convictions, alleviating even the administrative burden those individuals may face. In short, *some* procedure must exist to allow the State to administer robust *Blake* relief to all who are entitled to it. CrR 7.8 is that procedure. CrR 7.8 facilitates due process; it does not hinder it. Decision at 19. Petitioners have not raised an issue of constitutional concern necessitating this Court's review.<sup>8</sup>

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Because this case does not implicate any of the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b), the Court should deny review.

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